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Tuesday, February 13, 2018
--- On commencing at 9:37 a.m.

MS. SPOEL:  Good morning.  Please be seated.

Good morning.  The Board is sitting this morning in a motion brought by Anwaatin Inc. to review and vary a decision of the Board in EB-2016-0160, a decision dealing with Hydro One Networks Inc.'s transmission rates.  This file has been assigned Board number EB-2017-0335.

Before we proceed further can I have appearances, please.
Appearances:


MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I am Lisa DeMarco, with DeMarco Allan LLP, and with me is my colleague, Cary Ferguson, C-a-r-y.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  And you are counsel for Anwaatin?

MS. DeMARCO:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good morning, Panel.  Mark Rubenstein.  I'm counsel for the School Energy Coalition.

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Rubenstein.

MS. LEA:  Jennifer Lea for Board Staff, and with me is Mr. Thiessen, also with Board Staff.

MR. GARNER:  Mark Garner, consultant with VECC.

MS. CHOW:  Jennifer Chow, articling student for counsel to VECC.

MR. NETTLETON:  Gordon Nettleton, counsel to Hydro One Networks Inc.

MS. SPOEL:  Good morning, Mr. Nettleton.

Before we begin are there any preliminary matters?
Preliminary Matters:


MS. DeMARCO:  Just one, Madam Chair.  We will be potentially relying on a case that stands for the proposition that he who hears must decide, and in the event that the Panel needed supporting background we have filed the fundamental case at law with my friend this morning, with apologies, and with the Panel.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  So that's the material you've...

MS. DeMARCO:  That's the Moyer case you have in front of you.

MS. SPOEL:  Okay.  Perfect.  Thank you very much.

All right.  If there is nothing else, the way we would intend to proceed is Panel will have some questions.  We will start with questions for Anwaatin, and -- based on the pre -- you know, all your pre-filed materials; then we'll proceed with Board Staff, other intervenors, then Hydro One; and then, Ms. DeMarco, you will have an opportunity for Anwaatin's reply submissions, taking into account all of that.

So I think we will start -- Ms. Duff has -- oh, sorry, my name is Cathy Spoel, and I'm sitting with Allison Duff and Rumina Velshi this morning.  I didn't introduce ourselves.

We'll start with -- Ms. Duff has some questions for Anwaatin.
Questions by the Board:


MS. DUFF:  Good morning.  I'm going to spend most of my questions talking about the factum and regarding some of the details just to make sure I understand.

I guess it's paragraph 2, and it's little (iii), and it's on page 3.  In your evidence -- your argument, sorry, correct myself there, your argument you had asked that the Board earmark a portion of Hydro One's approved capital budget in order to address and remedy certain transmission assets.

Now, I'm not familiar with all of these.  I saw the evidence regarding the asset A4LT7MM9K, but can you confirm for me, those are all transmission assets?

MS. DeMARCO:  They are, and there is an IR that speaks specifically to that.

MS. DUFF:  That's fine.  I just wanted to confirm that the subject matter is transmission assets, and I realize transmission assets are connected to distribution assets, but there are specific requests in your argument regarding transmission assets.

MS. DeMARCO:  That's correct, and just to be fair to my friend, during the course of the hearing of the evidence there were a number of CDPP outliers that were listed in the interrogatory response that my friend is going to grab for me, and some of those assets were delivery points that were, in fact, listed as distribution assets, and so these are only the transmission assets.

MS. DUFF:  That's exactly what I was trying to get at.  I could see there were some discussion interrogatories and Hydro One pointed out that those are distribution, but these clearly, which are in your factum of your motion, are regarding the transmission ones.

MS. DeMARCO:  Yes, they are, and to the best of my knowledge.

MS. DUFF:  And in paragraph 6 of this factum, and that's on page 4, and I will read it out:
"Anwaatin had a legitimate expectation that the Board would consider, decide upon, and provide reasons for the Board's decision on the Anwaatin reliabilities issue."

Could you just elaborate a little bit more on a legitimate expectation the Board would consider.  And I am asking that question because there is reference to Anwaatin's evidence on page 24 of the decision.  Did that not meet your expectation?

MS. DeMARCO:  The reference to Anwaatin on page 24 of the decision is in relation to the consultation issue, which is outside of the scope of this motion before the Board.  And just to walk you through procedurally, I think it might be useful to refer to our supplementary book of authorities, if I could, which was filed yesterday, and that legitimate expectation is addressed quite squarely in there.

First, if I can ask you to turn to tab number 1, you will see that as early back as Anwaatin's communications on and in relation to the issues list, a predominant and priority issue was this issue of reliability in the Anwaatin communities and the reliability impact in those communities.

So if I can ask you to turn to the second paragraph of that September 29th letter, which is found at tab 1 of our supplemental book of authorities.  The first sentence of that second paragraph states:
"Anwaatin supports the inclusion of proposed issues 3, 4, 6, 10, and 11 and 12 on the understanding that they will permit the Board's thorough consideration of reliability issues in northern and southern Ontario and related impacts on customers, including Indigenous communities."

So that reliability issue was front and centre in relation to our earliest submissions on the issues list.

And similarly, in relation to Hydro One's reply to submissions on the issues list, Anwaatin filed a letter dated October 3rd, 2016, which is found at tab 2 of our supplemental materials.

And again, in the bottom paragraph it expressly, second sentence at the bottom paragraph, refers to:
"This necessarily includes First Nations and Indigenous customers that have unique and disproportionate transmission service and reliability concerns."

And then again, if I can ask you to turn to tab 4, wherein the Board had asked, through Procedural Order No. 3, for parties to make submissions on whether or not they wish to file evidence and the purpose of that evidence, and Anwaatin clearly indicates that, in fact, the bulk of the issues that it is requesting to file evidence on relate to transmission reliability disparity and transmission reliability impact.

The third and lesser issue is the consultation process.  So I want to be really clear on this point, and I think it really does trigger the whole aspect of what we're here arguing before the Board on this motion.  We are not raising anything in relation to the Board's process and decision pertaining to consultation.

MS. DUFF:  And in fact, just looking at the structure of the decision and the way it was organized, there is a section, section 4.2 of the decision, called "customer engagement and the reliability risk model", and I can see references to Anwaatin's evidence in that section.

MS. DeMARCO:  References to the consultation evidence.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.

MS. DeMARCO:  There is no reference, whatsoever, anywhere in that 120-page decision in relation to the reliability disparity evidence or the reliability impact evidence, both of which the Board gave express consent to prepare through Procedural Order No. 4.

MS. DUFF:  Then when we go to the next chapter of the Board's decision regarding capital expenditures, 4.3, perhaps you can give me your opinion on the extent to which the Board considered capital expenditure-related issues to address reliability.

MS. DeMARCO:  Again, no reference whatsoever to that very extensive and exhaustive evidence of Anwaatin, regarding the reliability concerns and impacts in those First Nations communities.

Just to, you know, give you a Harper's list of just how large those issues were, I have some stats for you.

It is approximately 96 pages of transcript that addressed this specific Anwaatin reliability disparity and reliability impact considerations, 96 total pages.

MS. DUFF:  Did you file the transcript pages as part of your factum?

MS. DeMARCO:  We did actually.  It is in the book of authorities, and I will give you the exact reference.

MS. DUFF:  They were filed yesterday?

MS. DeMARCO:   No, I think they are in the motion record itself.  Let me find the exact --


MS. DUFF:  That's fair enough.

MS. DeMARCO:  We have at, tab 7 of the motion
record -- I believe that we might be missing volume 4 of that.  Sorry, the transcript is just volume 7, and that has been filed.  We can file the additional --


MS. DUFF:  That's fine.  That's on the public record.  I just want to make sure I have an understanding of the extent to which this was raised during the hearing.  That's what I was trying to establish.

MS. DeMARCO:  If I can just kind of continue with my Harper's index, if you will, of what was filed very specifically, in additional to that 96 pages, and one filed two types of evidence.

And poor Mr. Ferguson.  I had him do the number crunching and the numbers do speak some volumes, in my mind, of the written evidence.  1,316 words of a 300,189 word piece of evidence deal with reliability disparity and reliability impacts.  That's a full 41 percent of that piece of evidence.

In the video evidence, five minutes and ten seconds of that 8-minute video deal with reliability disparity and reliability impact; that's a full 65 percent of that evidence.

I could go on through the final argument giving you the associated Harper's index of just how important this issue was to the Anwaatin First Nations communities, and just how much it was in fact emphasized.

MS. DUFF:  Appendix B; it was your motion of record by the moving party, and Appendix B which talks about -- it is an IESO presentation of October 24, 2016.  I was just going through that.



It is regarding the Integrated Regional Resource Plan, and this was, I take it, a meeting that happened in 2016.

MS. DeMARCO:  I'm just pulling that up to follow you.

MS. DUFF:  Yes, of course.  By the way, I did see the transcript references in tab 7.  But there's so many pages, I didn't see 96 -- okay.

MS. DeMARCO:  We will definitely undertake if you'd like to file --


MS. DUFF:  If somebody knows where they are.  That's okay.  Please don't.  So it is Appendix -- it is the IESO, the Greenstone-Marathon IRRP.  Was this presentation discussed at all during the hearing?

MS. DeMARCO:  This formed part of Dr. Richardson's evidence, and was in fact referenced in relation to his oral testimony.

MS. DUFF:  I'm looking at specifically -- I guess it's page 17.  And this is again this asset, the A4L performance statistics.  And I take it that, the way I read this, in 2016 -- and you had data up to September 2016, there are the duration of outages for this particular asset.  It says here it is substandard and needs to be addressed.

Now this is -- the source the is Hydro One, but I am a bit confused by -- it looks to be kind of a Hydro One document, but an IESO report.  I just want to make sure I understand.

MS. DeMARCO:  I believe the source of the document was Hydro One.  It is referenced in an IESO local -- I'm going to get the name wrong.  Let me get you the exact name.  Local LAN -- LAC, local advisory committee meeting for the area.  But that same data is reflected in exactly what was put forward to the witnesses in TCJ2.5 in the evidence and, contrary to my friend's submissions, the ten-year data was in fact thoroughly canvassed with the witnesses in the cross-examination.

MS. DUFF:  But the source of this document, we're talking about a face-to-face meeting.  This is between -- it was a face-to-face meeting?  It was local?

MS. DeMARCO:  I believe that the IESO, subject to check, undertook to consult locally with all of the specific areas.

MS. DUFF:  I mean, these are -- these types of documents, I don't know if they are usually filed before the Board.  I mean, there is some discussion between the customer issues and that.  And turning the page to 18, and this is Hydro One's outlier of program process.

I just -- so, we've -- the first box is you identify that there is an outlier, on the page before this said there is an outlier.  And if I add this up, it comes up to eight months of which you get to box 7 which says I -- integrate and implement a preferred solution.  Did that happen?

MS. DeMARCO:  There is no solution.  And in fact, in my friend's submissions, there is no proposed solution to this issue.  In fact, the evidence clearly indicates that a full 60 percent of the transmission assets serving the Anwaatin communities are CDPP outliers.

MS. DUFF:  And so is it fair --


MS. DeMARCO:  I just want to put that in context, if I could.  60 percent; imagine if we in Toronto had 60 percent of our transmission assets being reliability outliers, having the kind of reliability where the asset is going down all the time.

MS. DUFF:   The Board has certain scorecards and metrics that is we look at; SAIDI and SAIFI are often reliability statistics that we rely on.  But they are looked at at the distributor or transmitter level.

Is that an issue in this case, where we've got a particular region or a particular area that's affected by reliability issues?

MS. DeMARCO:  In fact, it was the central issue.  And if I could ask you to turn to the factum and the final argument, there was extensive cross-examination on SAIDI, SAIFI, the delivery point unreliability index, and the associated CDPP statistics for the area, for the north and for the Ontario average.

The stats were in my view, after having canvassed other cases before the Board, I believe the worst in the history of this Board in considering transmission.

MS. DUFF:   Perhaps you can turn us to that.

MS. DeMARCO:  I will ask you to turn to --


MS. DUFF:   I read certain things and I want to make sure I am clear on the reference to your email.

MS. DeMARCO:  It is the motion record, tab 6, the final argument, starting at page 16.

At the bottom of that page, we start with SAIFI -- sorry, at the top of that page, we start with SAIFI and it indicates that the increased frequency in Anwaatin -- interruptions, relative to Hydro One overall, is close to three times, 2.69 times worse.  It goes on to look at the duration of the interruptions, and there it's about 7.29.

MS. DUFF:  I just wanted to make sure I had the right references.  Thank you.

MS. DeMARCO:  Okay.  And the last one is really the most telling.  "Delivery point reliability" is 20.81 times worse in the Anwaatin communities.  And if your initial reaction is like mine, it was, well, this is a northern community issue, but look at the statistics.  The Anwaatin communities versus northern communities in Ontario are still a good four times worse.  I'm comparing column 2 at the bottom of the chart on page 17 to column 3 at the bottom of the chart on page 17.  It is quite an extraordinary difference that's not simply explained by "this is the north."


MS. DUFF:  But what I -- I hear what you're saying.  I look at the Board's decision, which approves an envelope for capital expenditures and deals with reliability issues at a different level, not talking about individual regional differences, so I -- what is the error the Board made that this Panel can address, given they dealt with capital expenditures in a -- this is my words, not the Board's words -- but in an envelope approach?   I was saying that it's general.  But it's not specific to any particular region, it's leaving it up to Hydro One to make the determinations on its prioritization of capital expenditures to address the needs.  They are in the best position; that's what the Board says.  Do you agree?

MS. DeMARCO:  No, actually, with respect.  First, this Board has a statutory mandate under section 1(1)1 to protect the interests of consumers with respect to reliability and adequacy of the electricity service that it is charged with overseeing.

And in particular, there is glaring evidence before this Board that one particular customer group has far worse reliability than any other group who was presenting or any other evidence before the Board.

Secondly, in relation to the Board's statutory powers, you're enshrined with extraordinary powers.  You, in fact, have exclusive jurisdiction over these issues, pursuant to section 19 and section 20; and you have the ability to condition your orders, and to do so in a way that, in fact, discharges your statutory mandate and the regulatory compact to ensure that customers are protected and no series of communities is disproportionately and disparately impacted.

And that was, in effect, the heart of what the Anwaatin requested relief was attempting to do.  It was requesting this this Board earmark a portion of that capital budget and on this motion take such other means as the Board has jurisdiction to take in order to ensure that this reliability disparity, these reliability impacts which are disproportionate on a First Nations community are, in fact, addressed in order to ensure that just and reasonable rates across the province for all consumers are ordered.

So certainly it's my client's view that the Board did not discharge that duty.  And I say that with the utmost respect for the talent and integrity of both Board Staff and the Board members.

It is also my client's view that the Board did not, in failing to address the reliability disparity evidence, in failing to address the reliability impact evidence, in fact, in failing to have a single word of mention of either of those two pieces of evidence, it did not discharge its duty and obligations of procedural fairness to the Anwaatin communities.

MS. DUFF:  Anwaatin's approach to dealing with this issue -- I take it there's a history that's been going on for a few years.  What was the decision to come before the Board in the original case and then the decision to file this motion?

MS. DeMARCO:  It's a good question.  I'll try and --


MS. DUFF:  I don't know if that's an appropriate -- I just -- like, perhaps the question is, this wasn't -- there had been other activities that preceded this Board hearing and the fact that we were hearing that that panel heard this issue.  There was a history.

MS. DeMARCO:  I can't speak historically to the length and history that preceded the community's interactions with Hydro One.  I could certainly undertake to get a listing of what they were, but the rationale for participating in this case 0160 was that you are in fact empowered, exclusively empowered, with the jurisdiction to set rates and to hear all matters of fact and law before you, pursuant to section 19 and 20 of the OEB Act.

MS. DUFF:  So what I was trying to get at also was looking at the submissions that were filed in response to the motion filed in this proceeding, and there were a few positions taken.  I was going to ask you for your response to that, but obviously you will have a chance to a formal reply.

Start with Board Staff.  Board Staff's position -- I'm summarizing -- is that it did not have specific information to address the relief sought.  The Panel did not have -- it heard the evidence, but it did not have sufficient evidence to address the relief sought.

What's your reaction to that?

MS. DeMARCO:  Anwaatin has a few reactions to Board Staff's submission on this issue, and the first is that in relation to the Board Staff suggesting that there is an alternate approach, it is tacit acknowledgment that this issue must be addressed.

And then secondly, in relation to the associated issue around not having sufficient information, I find it very difficult to understand how, if some 96-odd pages of transcript with numerous pieces of evidence, both filed in direct and in interrogatories and in undertakings regarding the issue, that the Board did not have sufficient evidence before it to provide some order directing that the issue of the reliability disparity in these First Nations communities and the reliability impact in these First Nations communities be addressed, whether by way of the capital envelope and an earmark or by some other means.

In fact, these facts were squarely before the Board, and the Board has the right and, I would argue, obligation to decide issues of fact and law that are squarely before it, pursuant to section 19(6), subject to check on the subsection.

MS. DUFF:  And just to keep moving forward on this, with VECC, they filed a submission, and they had -- and again, I'm paraphrasing.  I'll try to -- they said there's a number of options available.  Hydro One may seek relief from the Board through a deferral account and ICM.  These are steps which could be taken subsequent to this decision being offered.

What's your reaction to that as a feasible solution to this issue?

MS. DeMARCO:  Certainly I'm quite sympathetic that something must be done and VECC acknowledges that something must be done to address the Anwaatin reliability disparity and reliability impact evidence.

In terms of the specific nature of this relief, if I can answer your question by saying, are we tied to an earmarking?  No, not necessary, but Anwaatin is certainly tied to ensuring that the reliability disparity issue and the reliability impacts which disproportionately impact those First Nations communities are addressed by the Panel or by the Panel that's hearing the Panel's evidence in the case that was before the Board, and that it's done promptly, that it's not pushed off to some other proceeding.

MS. DUFF:  VECC also in -- it's paragraph 5.  They say "nothing precludes Hydro One", and the party is Hydro One, the emphasis of this paragraph:

"Nothing precludes Hydro One from making the appropriate investments in this transmission system that would improve reliability to its customers.  Hydro One retains the discretion to deal with issues as they arise."

Is that not correct?

MS. DeMARCO:  I think absolutely.  There is nothing precluding Hydro One from, as you would have expected in their reply, saying this is a serious issue.  This reliability disparity doesn't meet any of the scorecard targets, or the associated stated objectives of the company, and we will do the right thing.  We will deal with this issue.  We will commit to addressing clearly this ill-performing transmission system asset, and we will do so promptly prior to serving -- prior to file the next rate case or before a date certain.

But we don't have those submissions in the Hydro One before us.  We don't have any indication, other than a lovely pat on the head, for the advocacy of the Anwaatin First Nations and for them for raising the issue.  We have no commitment for Hydro One to do anything to solve this issue.

MS. DUFF:  Just before I leave this one, I just want to make it -- give me a moment, please.

MS. DeMARCO:  If I could actually give you the reference for that, because that paragraph was particularly problematic, as you can imagine, for my clients to read.  It is paragraph 31 of Hydro One's submissions.

And somewhat shockingly, they indicate that while they are mindful -- sorry, "extremely mindful and sensitive to the views" of the First Nations communities, and they commend Anwaatin on its advocacy, and then they go on to fail to commit to do anything to address the issue.  They fail to address these transmission system assets within that capital envelope which, you are absolutely right, is within their discretion to do through this or through other means.

MS. DUFF:  The other point that VECC makes in its submission is that the Board's decision does not approve utilities-specific capital budgets, but rather it accepts a forecast capital and operating cost for the purpose of rate-making.

In other words, the Board doesn't say do projects 1, 2, 3 and 4, and don't do projects 5 and 6. It is not that specific.  So would --


MS. DeMARCO:  If I understand --


MS. DUFF:  Your request then is to do exactly that, to make a specific earmark for a portion of the capital budget.

MS. DeMARCO:  Anwaatin's request was in fact to make a specific earmark of the capital budget to address the issues.  But if the Board, in its discretion has other means in which to get his reliability disparity issue addressed and to address the very disproportionate impacts on these First Nations communities, then certainly I do not believe there will be any objection from Anwaatin of the Board exercising its jurisdiction, its exclusive jurisdiction in that manner.  And certainly that was the initial expectation, that it would, when faced with such a glaring issue, decide upon it and address it.

MS. DUFF:  I'm going to turn to SEC's submission now.

SEC, in their third paragraph, suggests that should the Board grant the motion, the Board should remit the matter back to the original panel to consider the evidence. So they go on about the intertwined nature of the capital budget involving and weighing many factors, such as cost, reliability, risk, value, pacing, customer preference and tradeoffs with OM&A expenses.  What's your reaction to that submission?

MS. DeMARCO:  We have no firm submissions on the procedure this Panel should order, should it use to address this issue and remit.  But certainly I would note that the principle of he who hears must decide is one that's well known and borne out in law, and we respect that.

MS. DUFF:  I think SEC makes that reference.  They do.  Thank you.  Just one moment?

MS. DeMARCO:  If I might, I'll just note that we have, in relation to the preliminary materials, provided you with the supporting case law, should you wish to rely on it to support that point.

MS. DUFF:  There is one more request that Anwaatin put forward, and it is regarding a best practice guide to be created.  Perhaps you could describe that a little more, and why you think this Board is in a position to order a best practice guide for Hydro One.

MS. DeMARCO:  I could, but I'll note that in responding, that is not within the scope of this motion.  That best practice guide was in relation to the consultation issues, not in relation to reliability issues that are now before the Board on this motion.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you for that distinction.  Those are all my questions, thank you.

MS. VELSHI:   Thank you.  I'd like to just follow up on some of the things that you'd mentioned in response to questions from Ms. Duff.  It is about when where you believe the Board made an error in not carrying out its statutory duties, and not considering the evidence or providing argument on why the evidence had not been compelling enough to address what you were asking for.

So when it comes to reliability concerns, you've pointed us to the evidence.  Was there evidence presented on what it would take to address those concerns?

As you will have read from some of the submissions, the Board did not have in front of it evidence to say here's how the capital budget should be earmarked, what are the costs, what are the benefits, how are we going to do that.

 Was there any evidence, was there any discussion,  were there any interrogatories around that?

MS. DeMARCO:  There were -- if you would just give me a moment, I'll get you the specific transcript references.

I believe a number of the questions that you are looking at, in terms of what is the issue and what would it take, were canvassed in and around my cross-examination of the panel in volume 7, starting at page 146.

And we looked at the distinctions between whether this was, as you were indicating, a distribution asset or a service system asset and whether specific fixes, particularly to wood poles, would address the issue.  And there were indications around what would need to be done, and I believe it's Mr. Ng addresses some of that.

I'm looking at page 156, where we discuss very specifically delivery points that are problematic, A4L and circuit issues, the issues of whether wood poles -- replacing them and how many would address the issue, whether it would address all the issues, and the answer was -- the question put to the witness was:
"So you are confident that fixing wood poles will fix all of the reliability issues at those delivery points?"


And the answer is:
"No, that's not what I'm getting at."

Then there is an ongoing discussion with Mr. McLaughlin around looking at reliability of the circuit, small set of delivery points, look at the detailed historical performance, cause to determine what actions need to be taken to improve the reliability, and he again indicates that not necessarily wood poles.  And then I ask him:

"So you've anticipated my next question.  Is everything related to wood poles?"

And he had indicated before that that's not the case.

There were similarly interrogatory responses relating to -- and undertaking responses, and I've got that list.  I believe certainly it is in response to undertaking at the hearing, and I will get you the specific undertaking number where there is a follow-up in terms of what's required.

MS. VELSHI:  If you can't find it now, you can --


MS. DeMARCO:  Yes, I've got it now.  I'm sorry.  I believe it's Undertaking J2.3 and Undertaking J7.5, and then the specific issues were canvassed in Exhibit I, tab 10, TCJ2.5, TCJ2.7, I believe, TCJ2.08, and TCJ2.10.  I believe that should be TCJ2.8 and not 08.  It's 08?  Okay.  It's 08.

MS. VELSHI:  And all those address how the reliability issues could be addressed?

MS. DeMARCO:  They in part address reliability issues and what's necessary and associated impacts, so if I can go through sequentially, the IR number 1 and 3 look at some of these issues, specifically the problematic systems and CDPP outliers for years in question, very clearly indicating that the Longlac transmission system is a problem.

MS. VELSHI:  It is not so much of what is the problem but what is it going to take to fix the problem.


MS. DeMARCO:  Certainly there was some discussion in that.  And I will try and pinpoint the references for you.  In relation to, I believe it's TCJ2.5, there is -- and I'm working from memory here -- an asterisk at the bottom of that undertaking which identifies, I believe 153 kilometres of line that needs to be addressed, 70 of which will be analyzed in a particular fashion; and the remaining 50-odd, if we can just pull up -- and I will read that -- it's TCJ2.10, and it says that:

"A4L circuit is about 153 kilometres.  70 kilometres of this circuit is secluded for a complete line refurbishment in 2021.  55 kilometres of the circuit has been assessed, and no line for refurbishment is required in the foreseeable future.  The remaining 28 kilometres of the circuit requires assessment."

So these are all things that need to be done to actually address the issue, and I think one of the most telling interrogatories, which include the expected service life, indicate that in relation to that A4L line, I believe the expected service life is 74 -- 70 years.  The actual line is 74 years old, and it's not scheduled to be replaced until 2021, some significant years beyond the date that the expected service life indicates it should be operating.

The reference there is TCJ2.10, page 3 of 3.

And I don't want to be dramatic about this point, but I do want to emphasize that this is precisely the concern that the auditor general raised in relation to Hydro One.  Transmission system assets beyond their expected service life that are causing problems, definite reliability problems for a very vulnerable group of customers, consumers, that are not addressed, four years beyond their useful life and are not scheduled to be addressed until a further three or four years.  It is a problem.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  Ms. DeMarco, I just wanted to ask one more question in relation to Board Staff's submissions, and that has to do with the recommendation that -- found on page 4 of their submission, that the OEB require Hydro One as part of its evidence in the next transmission revenue requirement case to prepare and file more complete and understandable data regarding reliability and so on, and a strategy for addressing unreliability.

I think that case is coming up fairly soon, because these are sort of a two-year cycle on these things.  Is that something that would operate -- if this Panel were to make that kind of an order, would that be something that would go at least some way to alleviating your concerns or your client's concerns about the fact that these things aren't being addressed?

MS. DeMARCO:  Again, with the utmost respect for Board Staff and their intent to try and find a solution, I believe they suggested that the Panel require Hydro One to consider the issues raised already in the 2016-0160 case in a future proceeding.

And you can imagine that as a group of First Nations communities that invested the time and the cost and the resources and the band council direct evidence and the consultant evidence to come before the Board in the 2016-0160 case, that it is very cold comfort for this Board to then say redo it all again in a subsequent proceeding, and he who heard is not required to decide.

The evidence that was brought before that Board in that case was all for naught, other than, as Hydro One suggests, giving Anwaatin a pat on the head for raising the issue and commending its advocacy around the issue.

MS. SPOEL:  So --


MS. DeMARCO:  Specifically I believe Anwaatin would feel that that's too little, too late.  Secondly, it would violate the basic tenet that she who hears in the case, or in this case, she who hears must decide.  And it effectively squanders the two-plus years of time that the Anwaatin community spent, the two-plus years of energy and resources that it invested on the reliability disparity issue and the reliability impact evidence that it filed in the prior case.

And I hesitate to raise this, I do, but it also -- it's particularly challenging for the perception of the legitimacy of this Board in First Nations communities for the perception that if there is an issue, a serious reliability issue, that this Board will hear and will address those concerns --


MS. SPOEL:  Well --


MS. DeMARCO:  -- in a way that is just and reasonable.

MS. SPOEL:  Okay.  There is nothing this Panel can do today -- I'm trying to -- in asking you the question about Board Staff's suggestion, my intention was to try to find a practical solution moving forward, given that it's now February of 2018, if we were to remit -- so I'm thinking of -- I'm looking at what's the remedy.

Let's say we -- let's say we agree with your client's position that the previous panel should have done more, should have addressed the issue in the decision.  The fact is they didn't, so too little, too late is maybe -- you may well be right, but there is nothing that we can do now to fix that.

The best -- we only have a couple of options, if we accept your client's motion or we find in your client's favour on this motion.  We can remit it back to the original panel, who can then determine what remedy -- who can then address the issue in a decision, and you can make submissions to them on your client's behalf about how much of the money should be earmarked.

But that doesn't give a plan yet, even if the money is earmarked and the Board directs Hydro One to spend a certain amount of its budget on those issues, that still isn't a strategy for how it's actually going to be spent.  So it will take -- whatever happens, it will take some time.

So here we are today, and I'm trying to -- I'm trying to think of ways that might be ways to move forward, appreciating that, you know, life isn't perfect.  So given that the decision is what the decision is what the decision is from the previous panel, and we can can't actually -- the best we can do is remit it back or substitute another finding.  And if your position is that it must be -- go back to the people who heard the original -- the evidence tendered on behalf of your client, then I presume that your submission to us is that if we find in your favour, then that should be the remedy.  We should send it back to the previous panel for further consideration.

I mean, is that what you're saying when you are saying that those who heard before, who actually heard the oral evidence and so on, are the ones that must make the decision?

MS. DeMARCO:  I understand and appreciate very much what you're struggling with in terms of what to do.  I think there are two issues.

The first is that what should be done substantively on this motion.  And then secondly, if something is done, how should it be implemented in the context of the decision.  So let me first address the what.

It is Anwaatin's strong view that this Board has and should exercise the jurisdiction to indicate and to stipulate that Hydro One must address this reliability disparity issue and the reliability impact issue.  So effectively, you are varying and substituting your decision for the lack of a decision of the prior panel on those two points.

I do have sympathy for my friend at Schools point of view that how that is done has implications for the rest of the case.

In terms of what should be done, it would be Anwaatin's position that this Board is fully seized of that issue and has full conditional power through section 20, and 19 and 78.3, to indicate that Hydro One must address this reliability disparity issue, must address the reliability or disproportionate impacts by addressing the reliability disparity issue, and how that should be done.

This Board has a variety of options.  It may remit to the prior panel; it may direct a future panel.

MS. SPOEL:  So my question for you is:  Which of those options would you propose that, if we were to agree with your first -- if we accept your first point that we should vary a decision?   Let's assume we do that, so it's assuming that that happens, which of those options that are available to us would you recommend on behalf of your client be the option that we follow?

MS. DeMARCO:  I'll be very fair and frank with you.  My client is much more focused on the what, that this must be ordered in terms of the reliability disparity issue, it must be addressed.

In terms of the how, their preference, acknowledging the challenges and practicalities that everyone in this room faces, would be to have the issue dealt with as soon as possible.  And their view is that that's likely done by having it remitted to the panel who heard with that issue before it.  But if practicalities are such that the how needs to be determined in the next case, it's much more important, it's very integral that this Board indicate that this issue must be dealt with, that this disparity has to be addressed.

MS. SPOEL:  Okay.  So if I can make sure I understand what you're saying, it's that you would -- that in your view we should either remit it back to the previous -- assuming we agree with the substance of the motion, that in terms of the remedy, we should either remit it back to the original panel to reconsider and deal with -- well, to make a finding on the issue, let's say, or for us to make some other kind of order requiring Hydro One to deal with it as perhaps is recommended by Board Staff for the next transmission rates case.  Is that what you're saying?

MS. DeMARCO:  I apologize if I've been less than eloquent on this point.  It is a hybrid what the approach it is.

The first is for this Panel to simply substitute a decision for the lack of decision, and indicate that the issue must be addressed by Hydro One; the reliability disparity issue has to be addressed.  So a clear condition of the order is Hydro One shall address the First Nations reliability disparity issue and shall remedy it by X date, X to be determined by this Panel.

And then subsequently, the preferred option would be to remit the how that gets done to the panel who heard the original decision, or alternatively, a lesser alternative, to direct a future panel to determine how that should be done.

MS. SPOEL:  So when you say that the disparity should be addressed by a particular date, are you talking about the completion of the work that's required to fix the -- replace the whatever hundreds of kilometres of line and all the rest, or are you talking about having a concrete plan in place to do that or to actually complete the work?  When you say by a date, what is supposed to happen by that date?

I mean, I'm finding -- I understand your client's position that something needs to be done.  I'm trying to get into more -- to understand just how it is that you propose that we exercise our jurisdiction to help move that along, if we think that it should be.

MS. DeMARCO:  And I appreciate --


MS. SPOEL:  When you say by a date, what is supposed to happen by that date?

MS. DeMARCO:  So certainly for a First Nations consumer who is at the end of the line, it is fairly cold comfort to say that there is a plan in place and they're still having outages.

MS. SPOEL:  No, I appreciate that, Ms. DeMarco.  But as a practical matter, what is it -- you are asking us to order Hydro One to do certain things.  We can't make an order to Hydro One to say make sure that -- I don't think it's practical.  I mean, if we said you have to have it all done by next week, that wouldn't be practical.  It is winter and cold, and even here it is snowing and icy all the time.  So I can only imagine what it's like in Longlac.  So there are practical implications.  Not everything can be done immediately.

So all I'm asking -- you don't have to answer this question right now.  You can think about this and consult with your clients.  But really, if you want us to make an order that Hydro One has to do something, we have to have more specifics than things have to be done, it has to be fixed by a certain date.  What has to be fixed?  How much of it has to be fixed?  Do they have to have a plan that they come to us to have approved?

I think you have to give it a bit more thought.  We can't make an order like that in the abstract.  We have to have some practical things to get our -- and I don't know if that's information or evidence that was provided to the previous panel.  Maybe that's all in the evidence as to exactly what it is that you proposed Hydro One to do.

But I think what you've asked for was that they earmark a certain part of the budget.  But how -- that's step one, yes.  Let's say we agree, and we say, yes, you have to spend X percent of the budget on these issues. There is still the matter, the practical matter of how and when precisely.  You have to have a plan before you spend the money.  You can't -- you know, they've got -- there is a planning process involved.

So what is it you actually -- you are asking us to order them to do?  To make a plan, to spend the money?  What's the time frame?  And as I said, I don't need you to answer that question right now.  You might want to think about that a little bit.  But if we are going to make -- if we are going to make that kind of an order we need to understand what it is you are asking us to order, keeping in mind that there are practical considerations.

MS. DeMARCO:  I will certainly undertake to take that back to the client to request further specifics, but in doing so I'd love to highlight for the Panel some of the challenges and the efficiencies that we don't want to preclude.

First and foremost, we know that that 70 kilometres of the A4L line is overdue; i.e., is beyond its expected service life by four years, and isn't scheduled to be replaced until beyond the next case.  So certainly in terms of what it can do, that is a very low-hanging fruit.

But secondly, Hydro One may have other efficiencies it can bring to bear to remedy the reliability disparity issue, and we don't want to preclude Hydro One from exercising those efficiencies, from finding those solutions, by saying Anwaatin thinks you should do A, B, C, when in the context of everything Hydro One is doing, potentially it can do A and B and D cheaper, better, quicker.

MS. SPOEL:  So then you think maybe we need a plan.  Maybe Hydro One needs to have a plan before they actually do the work?  I mean, is that what your -- I mean, I don't want to be -- I don't want to put you on the spot, but -- on the one hand you are saying something must be done, it must be done now, but you are also saying we should -- that Hydro One might be in a better position to figure out what to do, and we don't want to preclude that.

So I'm just -- I'm trying to make sure we don't end up making things worse by making an order that's not helpful to your client and also not practical for Hydro One, if we make -- if we make an order at all, so I'm just trying to explore that a bit, so think on it, and maybe -- maybe you can -- maybe you can talk to Hydro One about what's practical if we were to do this, but I just -- so -- I think we've heard enough on that point right now.  I think I understand where you're coming from.

MS. DeMARCO:  If I undertake to do the following, please let me know if this would be acceptable to the Board.  I believe that if I take back to the client, would they be amenable to having the remedy requested read, at a minimum, fix the A4L line and file a plan --


MS. SPOEL:  Well, I don't know.  You can -- I don't want to put words in your mouth.  I don't want to put words -- I don't want to suggest to you what your -- you should be asking for on behalf of your client.  I just would like -- I would just like you to present something.  If you are asking us to make an order I would like to have something, perhaps, in writing that is what your client would like to see, and then we can consider whether that's a -- and Hydro One can respond to whether or not that is a practical -- or whether -- and whether it's within our jurisdiction to make the kind of order that you're looking for.  You know, there are -- I'm not sure.  We'd have to think about that and have to get -- probably get advice from -- we would have to allow other parties, including Board Staff, make submissions on the nature of an order that might be made, and it may not be that that happens today.  I just think you have to be -- if you were asking us to make an order, I think you need to be really clear about what it is
you're -- what exactly you are asking us to do, other than "something must be done", because something must be done -- that's easy for us.  That would be an easy order for us to make, something must be done, but it's not -- that's maybe not going to be that helpful.

MS. DeMARCO:  So just so I'm clear on this, the relief requested in the motion was that set out in the Anwaatin final argument, and that was for a portion of the capital envelope to be earmarked to address this reliability issue.

MS. SPOEL:  Right.

MS. DeMARCO:  And what you are asking for is further information on --


MS. SPOEL:  Well, if you're happy --


MS. DeMARCO:  -- an alternative --


MS. SPOEL:  If you're happy -- if your client is happy with that relief, then we'll just deal with that question in our decision.  But if you are wanting more, because your submissions that you made a little while ago suggested that perhaps your client wanted more than that, and the Board Staff has suggested that we might ask -- we might order -- they'd prefer an alternative relief, which may be that we have Hydro One prepare further evidence, so I'm simply trying to explore with you whether that might -- if we were to order that kind of relief would that be something your client would be -- would find useful or not.

So take it away and think about it.

MS. DeMARCO:  I will certainly canvass with the client alternate relief, in addition to, or --


MS. SPOEL:  Or in set-off.

MS. DeMARCO:  -- instead of the specific earmark, but certainly I want it to be very clear what the objective and outcome for this consumer group is intended to be.

MS. SPOEL:  Okay, thank you.

MS. DUFF:  Can I ask one question?  When you talk about consulting with your client, I mean, originally when we set up this procedural order for today we anticipated we'd have reply argument, but just given this last exchange I'm wondering that you probably have to consult with your client, and it is not something you do in an hour.

Do you want to address that?

MS. DeMARCO:  I think that's very fair, so just in terms of the client itself, there are ten First Nations communities that form part of the client.  They work through an overarching structure and need to land on the same page in many aspects and be advised by both the consultant and former Grand Chief Sault in how that happens, and then I'm instructed on that basis.  So it is not an easy, single-point-of-contact instruction --


MS. SPOEL:  Yeah, well, if -- I think, Ms. DeMarco, the solution may be that if we decide to grant your motion and if we need further submissions, we can always receive further submissions on remedy.  I'd like -- in writing.  We don't have -- we don't necessarily have to do everything today, so let's leave it for now. I think you've explained -- clearly explained where you're -- what the issues are and the difficulties.

MS. SPOEL:  Do you have anything else?

Let's -- we have some questions for Board Staff.  Do you want to -- should we deal with those now?  We'll deal with those now.

MS. VELSHI:  Thank you.  So my question to Staff following what we've heard from Anwaatin is your recommendation on page 4 being almost a tacit acceptance that the hearing panel should have addressed this issue, didn't address the issue.  I'd like you to comment on that.

And the second one, I want to comment on the evidence and the lack of evidence, but we'll come to that, but if you can comment on your recommendation, if you believe the Board did not err, why the recommendation, is it really a tacit agreement that the Board should have addressed this issue in its decision?

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  As you know, Board Staff's submission is that the Board's decision did not show an error, a reviewable error, here, and that you should not make the finding that the Board did err and that the decision should be varied.

However, what Ms. DeMarco says is correct, in the sense that in suggesting that Hydro One file evidence -- I can change this from a tacit to an explicit acknowledgment, something needs to be done with respect to the issues that her client has raised.

And the difficulty that Board Staff finds is that the request to earmark a portion of the capital budget, we don't know what portion that is, and although there is some evidence on the record about what might best be done about it, we don't know yet, I believe, what that might cost and what other projects will not get done if a specific portion of the capital budget is earmarked for specific projects.

So Staff struggled with this submission, and we believe that a solution must be found.  We hoped that it would be the right solution; that is, that Hydro One, in consultation with the Anwaatin communities and other affected First Nations, should develop a plan to quickly best address the problems that were demonstrated on the record of the hearing.

As Staff acknowledges at page 4 of its submission, the evidence called by Anwaatin, and in part by Hydro One, established that reliability in the north is worse than it is in the south by several multiples.  And further, that reliability in the First Nations communities is worse than the north in general.  And further, that the effect on those First Nations communities is severe.

So I don't think that we questioned the purport of the evidence called by Anwaatin.  At the same time, we are saying that the decision was not -- did not contain an error that is reviewable, and we attempted to propose a solution that we thought would move this along in a reasonable and expeditious manner.

We are concerned that time has passed and that there will be another Hydro One transmission case coming forward.  And we think that for Hydro One to be required to produce evidence, a strategy for addressing the unreliability in the First Nations communities, the Anwaatin communities and others that may be suffering in a similar way, and we also suggest that the transmission feeders that have been identified as service outliers be specifically addressed in that strategy, and that the strategy also include, which we believe the record does not yet include, is the cost for that.  How much of the capital budget should be set aside, earmarked for that, and what are the benefits and what are the associated costs.

So it is that quantification of the benefits and the costs that we think is, at present, absent from the record before the original hearing panel, and therefore before this Panel.

Just to be clear about your ability to make the order that Staff is suggesting without finding that the original panel was in error, we do refer to section 21(1) of the Act.  I will just read it quickly:
"The Board may at any time on its own motion and without a hearing give directions or require the preparation of evidence incidental to the exercise of the powers conferred upon the Board by this or any other Act.  You are acting under the power conferred on you by the Statutory Powers Procedure Act."


It is section 21.2(1) of the Statutory Powers Procedures Act, which is your power to review -- enables you to review all or part of your own decisions or orders to confirm, vary, suspend or cancel it, if your rules so provide.  Your rules do so provide, so the relief that Staff is recommending is in fact within your jurisdiction as part of this motion as well.

MS. VELSHI:   Thank you.  So getting back to what Staff is recommending, your first bullet is more complete of the data regarding reliability.  And I sense the frustration in Anwaatin.  Hey, we've analyzed this, we've given compelling evidence.  What more data?  It is now  to do some action.

Why do you think there is more analysis required?

MS. LEA:  I think there was some confusion on the record, acknowledged by Anwaatin in its own submission, about what the data showed that Hydro One presented with respect to the feeders.  And it took some time, I believe, from cross-examination of my friend to establish what the data was actually showing.

 And I note that the submission of Board Staff seems pretty vague.  More complete and understandable data regarding -- we did not specify what other data might be useful, because I think we're just not sure.

The second phrase there, including comparison to reliability from other transmission utilities serving reasonable comparable areas.  As you know, this Board seeks to use benchmarking data in it's assessment of the capital plans of utilities, and so it was our recommendation that some data, a benchmarking data, be provided -- and some was in the original case.  But that reliability data on other systems similar to that for the north for Hydro One would be useful.

Mr. Thiessen can correct me if I'm wrong.  I think there was reliability data provided for the southern circuit connected system, and less data provided for the northern radial system.  We thought that the Anwaatin communities and other northern communities deserved more specific data with respect to that the reliability of that northern system, and particularly with respect to the part of the northern system that serves those communities.

Then of course the strategy; we thought that that was probably the more important of the two bullet points, a strategy for addressing unreliability.  And here, again I agree with my friend that further discussion is not what's sought here; action is what's sought.  So a strategy to address the unreliability, because the evidence in the case was compelling with respect to its adverse effect on First Nations communities.

MS. VELSHI:   That's very helpful.  Thank you.  So getting to the strategy and given the urgency around what the situation is has been communicated to us, and we will clearly hear from Hydro One on this.

 But do you think, from Staff's perspective, that it is feasible or practical that this strategy, along with what needs to be done and the kind of benefit it's going to provide when, could be done in time for the next rate application in consultation with the Anwaatin?

MS. LEA:  I can't answer that question definitively.  My understanding from reading Hydro One's own submission on this motion is that they are ready to consult with affected communities, and they see it as a priority.

I do not have, and Staff does not have enough knowledge to know how long that will take.  But I think that it is Staff's submission that this needs to be addressed as promptly as possible.  And we saw, from a practical basis, that being the next transmission rate case.  And my friend from Hydro One can probably address when that is going to be filed.

Mr. Thiessen advises that we do believe that is going to be soon, so I'm sorry, I can't help with you the practicalities of that.  I think you'll need to ask Hydro One.

MS. VELSHI:   I'll ask Hydro One.

 MS. LEA:  But we're -- our submission remains that this needs to be dealt with in the next rates case; it can't wait longer.

MS. VELSHI:   Thank you.

MS. SPOEL:  We'll take a break now and come back at 11:10, and carry on at that point.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 10:56 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:16 a.m.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  The Panel doesn't have any questions for VECC or Schools.  We understand your submissions, and they're quite clear.  We do have some questions for Hydro One.

And the first question, Mr. Nettleton, is we would appreciate your comments on the proposal put forward by Board Staff as further explained by Ms. Lea in her submissions of having us order Hydro One to prepare evidence.

Is that a practical -- what are your comments on that, in terms of practicalities and so on?
Submissions by Mr. Nettleton:


MR. NETTLETON:  Thank you, Madam Chair, Panel.  Good morning.

First, I do have some thoughts that I'd like to share with you regarding Ms. DeMarco's submissions, but I'll perhaps wait until after I first address your direct questions.

What we know is that Hydro One is in the process of preparing its next transmission rates application.  What we know is that that application is intended it be filed within the quarter.  In other words, it's happening very soon.

What we know is that from this proceeding and from the prior transmission rates proceeding that there are issues that the Anwaatin communities have raised regarding transmission reliability and their impact upon their communities, so we know -- those are things we all know.

What we don't know are things like the suggestion that Ms. Lea made of saying maybe what we should do is get a benchmarking study, and require Hydro One to file a benchmarking study for purposes of testing the veracity or the objectivity of comparing the Anwaatin performance of the A4L line relative to other similarly situated assets.  We don't know that.

And in my respectful submission, based on my experience with benchmarking and the preparation of expert evidence like benchmarking is that this is not something that can be done overnight, and indeed, I think one of the challenges that we're finding even more in the benchmarking exercise is the willingness of peer group members to provide their data, to provide that type of information, that would lead or give rise to comparable data.

That's certainly been my experience with members of the Canadian Electricity Association, that there is less willingness to participate in these types of benchmarking studies if it is ultimately going to yield declines in capital expenditure budgeting.  So there's a broader issue there.

How that relates to this specific case and the suggestions that my friend Ms. Lea has raised is -- I can't imagine that Hydro One would be able to simply go to the shelf of a benchmarking expert and say let's pull the First Nation radial line for northern communities off the shelf and have it filed in this proceeding.  I can't imagine that that's possible.

But having said that, I get the point, and I think Hydro One gets the point of, there needs to be a change in its planning process.  And as our submissions have indicated, that has come about, and it no doubt and is, in fact, being tested right now before this Board in respect of Hydro One's distribution rates application.

There was more than 8,000 pages of interrogatories that were filed just yesterday in respect of that case.  Anwaatin is an intervenor in that proceeding and is very active in pursuing these very issues as it relates to distribution, so we already know that these issues are live.

I think it's reasonable to expect that in the upcoming transmission rate case these issues are not going to go away and, in fact, there is a strong basis for my friend and for Hydro One to be ready to be responsive to these issues going forward.

So I think that the message is clear, and the real issue is:  What do we do about it?

MS. SPOEL:  Well, okay, so from -- so I'll ask you that question:  What -- setting aside the benchmarking -- the suggestion that there be benchmarking, which I take -- I understand your point that that might or might -- might not want to hold all this up, waiting for benchmarking results, because they might not be readily available, and it takes time and so on, but -- so if we were to set aside the question of benchmarking and just look at a plan, is Hydro One, do you think, in a position, or -- well, I'll just ask you this.  Hydro One, is Hydro One in a position to provide the sort of plan and costing information to deal with some of these issues in order to be able to file that evidence in the next transmission case?  And if we were -- so if we were to order you to prepare that evidence, would it be -- not you, Hydro One -- would it be possible for Hydro One to do that in a timely fashion?

MR. NETTLETON:  So, Madam Chair, my experience has been that when applications such as transmission rates cases come before this Board, the lead-up process to it is an issues-day proceeding, and the reality is that we would expect that these issues would be considered and would be ones that would be addressed in an issues-day type proceeding.

So I think that if the issue is on the list, Hydro One obviously has to be prepared to address what the issue is. So I think that that may provide this Panel with some comfort to say as a normal course and normal part of our application process we do hear from parties, we ask parties to submit what their issues are or comment on, you know, a preliminary list of issues, and if parties want to have these issues raised then we get the views of Hydro One.

If the purpose of this proceeding is to acknowledge that there is an issue and that it's -- you know, be mindful of this issue, that it needs to go on the issues list, then fine, but I'm very concerned when I hear things like, you know, file a benchmarking study as a result of it.

MS. SPOEL:  Right.  So as I said, setting -- setting aside the benchmarking thing, I'll tell you what my concern is, is that you get to the issues day for the next transmission case and parties, including Anwaatin and probably Board Staff and maybe others, bring forward the issue of, what are you going to do about reliability issues in the north and specifically -- north generally and Indigenous communities specifically.  And Hydro One's response is, well, we need to -- it's going to take too long to prepare a plan in time for the hearing.  And either the hearing gets delayed because the plan's not ready yet or it gets punted to the next round.

And that's -- so that's the concern, I think, that we have.


MR. NETTLETON:  Yes.

MS. SPOEL:  That saying, well, if it's on the issues list we'll be prepared to deal with it, but will you have the evidence prepared, the costing studies.  Because these things, as well as -- quite apart from benchmarking, those things take time as well.

So that's -- that's my question, is how long would it take to put that material together?  Is it feasible to do it, to have the evidence of what it -- because there will be a question of comparison, what percentage of the budget needs to be spent on this, how much, what's it going to cost?  What else is not going to get done if this gets done first?  There's prioritization.  All those things in a capital plan.  So would --


MR. NETTLETON:  So --


MS. SPOEL:  -- how much time does it take for Hydro One, setting aside benchmarking, to do the rest of that work?

MR. NETTLETON:  Sure, so I think the segue that you are offering me is, if we could just put this into the context of this motion, because what I heard Ms. DeMarco say this morning was that, really, the issue that she wishes to have this Board determine is whether the envelope approach should be followed or not, in terms of how Hydro One allocates capital or how this Board approves amounts for capital expenditure.

I don't disagree that if that's the issue that she is seeking to have considered, it wasn't an issue in the prior proceeding.  In fact, when you look at Ms. DeMarco's supplementary materials and you look at the issues that Anwaatin touched upon in the issues list, the litany of the issues, they did not deal with Hydro One's capital expenditure envelope approach.

They did not deal with whether it is appropriate to have capital earmarked for specific projects.  It was not about are there priority projects that should be put in and executed in higher priority than any others.  Those were not issues for purposes of the issues list.

If those are issues, if those are things that should be considered, if we should have a debate about whether percentage of budget should be allocated on a project-by-project basis, if there are priority projects that should be treated differently from the envelope approach, my friend is welcome -- and Board Staff is welcome, as are all other intervenors -- welcome to raise those as potential issues for the consideration in the next proceeding.

It strikes me that what we are really touching on here is a more fundamental question of is it appropriate to be allocating budget on a basis other than what the Board's past practice has been.

It may very well that there is a need for an adjustment because of, you know, issues of northern community and First Nation community disparity.  But let's have that conversation.  Let's not tie it back to a prior decision.  And if there are those types of issues, then let's have a conversation about that.

MS. DUFF:  Just on that, why is it appropriate that this customer issue that Hydro One has is somehow punctuated by OEB proceedings?  Like that -- are there other activities going on, or does it have to wait until issues list of the distribution hearing?

MR. NETTLETON:  Ms. Duff, if I understand you correctly, is your question why is Hydro One not in the -- engaging with customers on an ongoing basis?

MS. DUFF:  I'm trying to -- your solution that I hear and your proposal submission is that this will be dealt with in the distribution hearing, but is that all?  That's what I'm asking.

MR. NETTLETON:  So I'm -- I just want to be clear on what this is.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, I'll break it down.  I guess my basic question is:  Is the distribution hearing your proposal for how this will be dealt with, in terms of the Board hearing about this next?

MR. NETTLETON:  There is no doubt that the issues of First Nation community impact of reliability will be a matter that will be heard, in my respectful submission, in the distribution rate case.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.

MR. NETTLETON:  There is no doubt that the transmission assets, which have been identified and form the subject matter of this motion, will not be dealt with in that proceeding because they are transmission assets.  A4L is a transmission asset.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.

MR. NETTLETON:  What I'm suggesting is that if we are going to have a conversation about a broader topic, like the envelope approach to capital budgeting or whether some adjustment is needed for specific purposes like priority projects that would benefit not just First Nation communities but all other worse-performing feeder-type assets, that's a debate and that's a conversation that we should be having in those future proceedings.

 My point is that it's not -- you can't get there by looking back.  You can't go back and have that conversation with the original panel that heard this case.  That doesn't get you the solution, I think that everyone is -- if everyone wants to have the conversation, then it's got to be prospective.

MS. DUFF:  Sorry if my question wasn't clear.  I was mixing in a few concepts.  What I heard you say was the issues day of the distribution hearing.

MS. SPOEL:  Sorry, I think when you were talking about the issues day, you are talking about the issue day for the next transmission hearing.

MR. NETTLETON:  Yes, we have an issues list for distribution.  It is underway.  IRs have been filed.  I was speaking -- sorry, I was --


MS. DUFF:  No, I think it's cross purposes, yes.  Too many hearings going on.  Not too many, just a lot.  Okay.  Thank you very much for that clarification.

MS. VELSHI:   So I think what I heard this morning is that the issue isn't -- the overall issue isn't the envelope approach and should that be revisited.  The overall issue is the reliability concerns, and I think what I heard what Ms. DeMarco say is we are open to other remedies rather than revisiting the envelope approach.

And I think what I heard Ms. Spoel ask you is, well, do you have to wait for an issues list, or can you be proactive and be prepared, because clearly it is an urgent issue that needs to be addressed, and what is Hydro One doing, or should be doing, or can do.  And the Board Staff have made a recommendation, in consultation with the Anwaatin, to come up with a plan on how are you going to address it, and what by when, and is that something practical in time for the next application.

MR. NETTLETON:  Again, Ms. Velshi, I think it's a reasonable expectation for parties to say what's your plan.  What are you going to do about these worse performing feeders, what are you going to do about these outliers.

I don't see that issue, that type of question being precluded from being asked in either the distribution rates proceeding or the next transmission rates proceeding.

I don't think -- I think it's fair to say that Hydro One has got the message and is anticipating that that that may very well become an issue going forward.

MS. VELSHI:   I'm sorry, but what I'm hearing you say Is that unless it is raised as an issue at the next Hearing, you are not going to do anything about it.

MR. NETTLETON:  With all due respect, I don't think that's fair.

MS. VELSHI:   Good.  I'm glad to hear it.  So tell
me --


MR. NETTLETON:  I think the question is -- is that is obviously when the next -- that's when this issue is going to be arising in the next matter that comes before this Board, that this Board will have Hydro One's evidence on that point when it next has to come before it to discuss it.

If the Board wants it find out if it's doing anything more, if it wants an update, if it wants to know something about a regulated utility, it is obviously -- as Ms. Lea has pointed out, it is obviously available and within your powers to write to Hydro One and say tell us what you are doing.

MS. VELSHI:   So what if this Panel, along those lines, were to say we'd like to you prepare a plan that addresses this issue and what are you going to do by when, and the question is, as a practicality, can that be done for the next application.

MR. NETTLETON:  So I do need to raise this caution, and that is I think it's really important, in my respectful submission, that we ensure that we're looking at the evidence, because the evidence and the record that was before your colleagues and the original panel is what matters most, and what the evidence before that Board was was obviously something that you should be taking into account.

We've used terms like estimated service life loosely, in my respectful submission.  We've used terminology like this to say, "And therefore, something needs to be done."

Ms. DeMarco did this today.  She said this A4L line is beyond it's estimated service life, as being a basis for saying, "And therefore, the line in its entirety should be replaced, and do it yesterday."

The evidence before the Board that the original panel heard was explanations about what this metric estimated service life is.  The witnesses of Hydro One said that's not how we make investment decisions; that's not how we go about doing our business.  We look at asset condition.  And I say all of that because that was the subject matter of our submissions, and it's important.

If we're making decisions here today to say the panel was wrong, they did not take into account the evidence, that there is some critical issue arising with respect to assets that are beyond their estimated service life or expected service life, we have a much bigger issue at hand, because there was a lot more evidence on the record that had that same outcome for all of the -- for other assets in Hydro One's system.

I think the other point that I would make, Ms. Velshi, is with respect to the plan, the plan idea.  I think you have to also -- we would have to -- Hydro One would have to think through this to say, okay, if we're going to make this as a priority, we're under a working environment where we have received reductions in our capital expenditure plan.  We are working from it from a different angle.  We've been told by the Board that our expenditure plan is insufficient, is not reasonable, it should be cut, so if there are priority projects we need to build in how that fits into that dynamic of working through and doing a plan to say, put aside the fact that we're asking you to do less, but with these particular projects we want you to do more, and don't look at the justification.  The justification has already been decided by the Board in this proceeding, and then figure out what the best cost-benefit analysis is for those and do that all within and before you file your next application.

I'm not an engineer.  I'm not a transmission system planner.  but I would think that that would come as -- that would require some careful consideration and deliberation about trade-offs, about how the -- how the transmission system planning function has operated, how the whole process has been very methodical, and how it has to reach to a conclusion of selecting projects across the entire province that have been determined to be worthy of the investment and the timing of the investment that's assigned to them.

The A4L project and the evidence before this Board on the A4L line particularly was that it is in the hopper; it is in the planning process.  There is work being done today on that circuit.  It is planning.  And you need to do planning as part of the project, and that's being done.

The real question is -- and it wasn't asked at the hearing -- was what would it take to get it done sooner?  That wasn't what Ms. DeMarco asked the witnesses.  Ms. DeMarco did not ask what trade-offs, what -- how much is it going to cost?  What would it be to do it differently?

And that's really important, in my respectful submission, because this whole issue has to turn on evidence.  And the Board in Procedural Order 4 cautioned Anwaatin with respect to the nature of the evidence that they were proposing to submit, and they cautioned Anwaatin to say, Dr. Richardson is no transmission reliability expert.  He's a consultant.  He's a sociologist.  He knows about engagement.  He knows about consultation.  Happy to have Dr. Richardson's views put forward, but he is no expert on transmission reliability matters.

So when the Board heard the evidence of Anwaatin, it wasn't like there was an alternative perspective given about how Hydro One should carry out its planning function, how Hydro One could go out and install assets or solutions that were far better or cheaper or would address the reliability issues.  That was not the evidence of Anwaatin.


And that's, in my respectful submission, why Ms. DeMarco could not refer in the transcripts or in the undertakings that were given at the technical conference to a discussion of where those trade-offs, where that evidence, where this Panel was able to make an informed decision to say, Yeah, we had evidence before us that suggested a better solution existed.  Hydro One, execute on it.  That wasn't before the Board.

If we want -- and so if we want to have that discussion, if we want to have that debate, then let's have it.  Let's have that body of evidence.  But let's not, as we're doing here, reassessing the merits or the veracity of the decision that was taken.

In my respectful submission, we agree with Staff that there has been no error on the record, that the evidence that Anwaatin provided and the focus of the submissions that they made in this proceeding related to, from the outset, related to concerns about consultation and concerns about the transmission reliability, yes.  They didn't file evidence about transmission reliability, they filed evidence about consultation.  The Board heard that, considered it, and deliberated on that.

Going forward, absolutely, I think it's fair to say that these issues are not going away, that Hydro One has made changes to its transmission system planning process.  That message was loud and clear given by this Panel, and testing of that new transmission system planning process, how it's delivering on things like identified -- identified circuits that are the worst performers in its system and how it's prioritizing that, that's all what I am anticipating is not only going to come up in the distribution rate case -- and I can refer you to the presentation day that was given by Mr. Kiraly, who was the new chief operating officer of Hydro One who specifically identified that for the purposes of distribution and the reasonable expectation that that same carryover effect, that change in system planning, is likely to be the subject matter of application, evidence, cross-examination; stay tuned.

MS. VELSHI:  Thank you.

MS. DUFF:  Just again the distinction of the distribution hearing and the transmission hearing being two separate proceedings, I appreciate that.  And the distribution proceeding is well on its way and the transmission application is yet to be filed.

To the extent that Anwaatin's issues and solutions involve both, is there any practical issue about having two different proceedings in which the solution involves both?

MR. NETTLETON:  Ms. Duff, it's a very good question, and, you know, my mind immediately harkens back to the commencement of the transmission case, that EB-2016-0160 case, because one of the issues that we raised very early in the process was this issue of, who are the customers?  Are customers, customers that should be participating in the transmission rate case?  Should they be transmission customers?  Should they be distribution customers represented by their distributor who are customers of transmission?

And I say that because Ms. DeMarco was very clear with the Board at that time to say even though, you know, members of our community are in fact distribution customers there is still a valid reason why we should be participating in the transmission rate proceeding.  And that was a view accepted by the panel; they were included.

The nuance now is that Anwaatin is a party involved in both proceedings.  The question of whether the transmission system planning process and the distribution system planning process are similar, I think, in my respectful submission, is that there are similarities but they are different systems, and you would expect different types of planning to go into those systems and the processes that yield to -- but having said that, I think when we get to the evidence, it will show that the changes that have been made --


MS. SPOEL:  Ms. DeMarco, you get to reply, you get reply argument at the end when you can respond to all of these comments.  So I know you are sitting there anxiously trying to jump in.

MS. DeMARCO:  I'm getting increasingly concerned that the issue before this Panel is the transmission system rate hearing.

There is no evidence brought in this motion regarding the distribution system hearing that is now before a different panel at the Board, and we are on a very slippery slope.  I've tried to be very calm and not jump in.  But we are sliding rapidly down the slope of a completely different proceeding not before this Board, not within the evidence in the 2016-0160 decision or hearing.  And certainly --


MS. SPOEL:  So you are objecting to Ms. Duff asking the question?

MS. DeMARCO:  Pardon me?

MS. DUFF:  You are objecting to the Ms. Duff asking the question of Hydro One about the relationship between the two?

MS. DeMARCO:  I am certainly not going to interfere with the discretion of this Board to ask whatever question it wants.  But certainly the response that we are getting is in relation to evidence that is not before this Board, and is well beyond the scope of this motion.

MS. SPOEL:  We'll take that into account.  I think we can way weigh the submissions appropriately, and you will have an opportunity to reply to all the submissions later.  Mr. Nettleton, do you have anything else you wanted to add on?

MR. NETTLETON:  I think the connection, if you will, because there always is a connection. You can't look at these in a vacuum.

The connection here to this motion, as we've stated in our reply submissions, is that there is an alternative option here to have these concerns about whether earmarking of capital should be a basis upon which Hydro One goes about its business.  That alternative solution is one which, in my respectful submission, not only could be raised in the next rate case, the next transmission rate case, but I wouldn't see what would stop Ms. DeMarco from asking those types of questions and raising these very same issues in the context of a distribution rate case, if there are similar issues that give rise to reliability concerns for her clients in the context of a distribution process.

So again, I'm here to find the alternative approach.  I'm hear to say that this solution is a far better, far more reasonable issue.  In my respectful submission, it would be inappropriate for the Board in this proceeding to say, without consideration of all of the evidence in the EB-2016-0160 proceeding, to come to a conclusion that says there is a serious issue here that requires us to utilize our special discretion and powers, and to require Hydro One to take a further step because this is an insurmountable issue that should have been addressed that wasn't addressed by this Panel, and Hydro One, you need to act now, you need to do so now.

I'm not suggesting that you can't.  I'm just saying that would be extraordinary relief, and if it is necessary, I would ask that that be done as soon as possible because, as I say, we have rate cases that are being developed in the very time that we are sitting here, and the sooner that we need to know that this is the view of the Board, the sooner my client can get going and address whatever exceptional relief or exceptional demands are now being placed on Hydro One.

That was not what we took to be the view of the panel that heard the decision EB-2016-0160.

What we took and have taken and have implemented is that your planning is -- your planning process is in need of repair.  Your planning process needs to change.  Your planning process is not identifying and is not being based upon worst-performing assets.

That's what we are taking away, and that's what Mr. Kiraly has addressed at presentation day at the distribution rates proceeding.  And ask yourself:  If he's done it there and we've heard all of the evidence and all the concerns that Anwaatin has raised in this motion, why would you think that Hydro One would not be mindful of that issue when it approaches the next transmission rate case?  Thank you.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  Ms. DeMarco, I think we'll take an early lunch break so that you have time to prepare your reply submissions, and then we'll hear from you on our return at one o'clock.

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.

MS. SPOEL:  Is that enough time for you?

MS. DeMARCO:  Perfect.

MS. SPOEL:  And as we said before, we don't expect you to deal with at the moment with sort of the specifics of what an order -- if we made an order, exactly what it might say.  If we want that, we'll ask for it in due course, in writing.

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 11:53 a.m.

--- On resuming at 1:03 p.m.

MS. SPOEL:  Okay, Ms. DeMarco.
Reply Submissions by Ms. DeMarco:

MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you very much, Madam Chair.  I will try to be succinct, both generally and specifically, in replying to both the comments of the Panel that they've raised this morning and the submissions raised in the parties' written submissions that were filed with this Board.

In doing so it goes without saying that this motion has very significant implications.  It has implications for transmission and electricity reliability, generally.  It has implications for First Nation, generally.  It has implications for the efficacy of the Board in hearing and addressing the very real concerns about electricity reliability in First Nations communities.

Here's what this motion is not about:  It is not about Hydro One's distribution rate case 2017-0049.  It is not about Hydro One's yet-to-be-filed next transmission rate case.  It is not about, as my friend Mr. Nettleton suggested, Hydro One's planning process, the capital envelope approach, the need to change the planning process, the method by which Hydro spends its capital envelope, et cetera, et cetera.

It is about the extraordinary and very real reliability disparity that First Nations communities, specifically the Anwaatin's First Nations communities, are experiencing and have been experiencing for a long time.

It is about the disproportionate negative impact that that reliability disparity has specifically on those First Nations communities.

This motion is also about the Board's decision, very plainly, the original Board Panel's decision, and its failure to even once consider and address the Anwaatin reliability disparity and Anwaatin reliability impact evidence that was squarely before it.

And Ms. Duff, we took it upon your question to examine very specifically section 4.2 of the Board's decision, which deals with the selection of participant in customer engagement sessions.  It does not deal with the Anwaatin reliability issues.

Similarly, we looked up section 4.3 of the decision, and there is absolutely no mention of the Anwaatin First Nations Indigenous communities and reliability disparity or reliability impacts that were raised in the First Nations' evidence of Anwaatin.

So the issue squarely before this Board today, and it is a difficult one for me to raise and no doubt for you to hear, is did the Panel err in failing to even once consider and address and provide reasons for its consideration of these issues before the Board in that hearing?  It is also about, upon deciding whether or not the Board erred, what will this Panel do to address the issue?

My friend Mr. Nettleton argues that evidence matters, and we agree.  So too does the law.  Given the quasi-judicial function of this tribunal, more than anything in this instance you as the trier -- well, them as the trier of first instance, you as the first body to hear this motion, must act, we would submit, consistently with the law, laid down by the Supreme Court of Canada in Dunsmuir and the subsequent cases that followed Dunsmuir.

So we've attempted to organize these reply submissions to be as efficient as possible, as follows.  First, we'll look at what evidence was actually before the Board.  And secondly, we will look at the law, and specifically, in our view, and Anwaatin's view, the law that clearly supports the conclusion that the Board erred in law by failing to discharge both its statutory mandate and/or its duty of procedural fairness that's owed to Anwaatin.

And last, but not least, we will address the mounting challenges associated with the many and growing alternative approaches put forward by my friends in attempt to find a solution, and we do, it goes out saying, very much appreciate the efforts of parties to attempt to find a solution to this issue.

So let's start with the evidence.  In response to the questions raised by Ms. Duff we went through the many procedural letters and orders highlighting that Anwaatin's participation in the proceeding was focused, in fact, almost laser-focused on the issues of reliability disparity and the disproportionate reliability impact on Anwaatin communities.

I won't repeat them.  Suffice to say that they are laid out in our supplemental book of authorities.

I also went through what I have termed the effective Harper's index, the statistics on the amount of time and the resources and the attention spent on the two issues of First Nations reliability during the proceeding.  That was the 96 pages, the five minutes, ten seconds of abatement as the 45 percent of written evidence.

Suffice to say that this wasn't a mere trifle, this wasn't a coincidental rationale.  This wasn't a mere step along the way to a much broader issue.  This was a fundamental issue that motivated the very participation and appearance of Anwaatin before this Board in attempt to achieve and obtain relief.

So let's do as my friend Mr. Nettleton suggests and look at the actual evidence, the evidence of Hydro One experts, Hydro One transmission reliability experts.  And let's see how it played out on the record.  I'm going to ask you to turn to our motion record, specifically at tab 5, TCJ2.5.

And contrary to the submissions that there were was no expert evidence, there was no evidence, let's look at what Hydro One's own experts have shown.  We have six pages of graphic evidence showing that first transmission reliability, both in terms of SAIFI and SAIDI and delivery point reliability index, is much worse than the system average in the north.  And I am referring specifically to under (a) on page 2, both graphs, on page 3, both graphs, on page 4, the first graph, and then --


MS. SPOEL:  Sorry, we don't actually have tabs in our materials.  When they copy them they put in -- no, there is no tabs at all, so --


MS. DeMARCO:  I believe we put --


MS. SPOEL:  -- it's near the end, I think.

MS. DeMARCO:  I'm sorry.  Our apologies for that.

MS. SPOEL:  Yes, I don't think it -- I don't think it -- I think it is the reproduction that happens internally here.  They tend to not give us tabs.  They just put in a blank piece of paper that says "tabs" and you can find it.

Sorry, not -- it is just taking us a minute to find our way through, so...

MS. DeMARCO:  I'd love to be able to find you -- give you a road map to help you, and it's somewhere around one-third through the stack.  How does that help?  Would it help if we brought up a copy?

MS. VELSHI:  No, we found it.

MS. DeMARCO:  So the second piece of evidence, again by those Hydro One experts in transmission reliability, sets out the transmission system performance providing First Nation communities.  And again we see the SAIFI much worse than the system average, much worse than the north, the frequency is worse.  This is on page 5 of 6, the bottom graph.

We see the SAIDI, the duration of those interruptions being very significantly worse than the average, and we see the delivery point unreliability index being much worse.

And at tab 6 of the motion materials, it is just a few pages further on, this is the Anwaatin final argument. Starting at page 15 on going on to 16, we have the summaries of that data.

My friend, in his submissions, has taken issue with the mathematical calculations that were done there, which is surprising given that, you know, at several points during the proceeding, my friend chastised others for doing simple division on the record, very specifically in response to questions asked by Mr. Stevenson.

At the transcript, volume 7, reference page 11, lines 8 to 25, Mr. Nettleton states:
"Mr. Stevenson, maybe just so I can understand, isn't what you're asking a number that is derived from the values of this chart.  It is simply a division calculation."

Mr. Stevenson says:
"It's exactly that, sir, but I don't want there to be any debate about my math."

And Mr. Nettleton says:
"Well, Mr. Chairman, I mean if it's simply a mathematical calculation, I don't think there is an issue why Mr. Stevenson couldn't do that on his own.  I'm sure he can push the divide button as well as I can."

And for the purpose of final argument, I mean that happens all the time.  You can divide or provide information that's on the face of the record, and that's exactly what you find in the chart, in the Anwaatin final argument.

Going back to those charts, the first table shows all data laid out in relation to the frequency of interruptions and shows that on average, Anwaatin, relative to the Hydro One average, is about three times worse.

In relation to the duration, Anwaatin is over seven times worse than the Hydro One overall average, and almost four times worse than the duration in northern Ontario.

In relation to the delivery point reliability index, this is the number that really tells the story.  Anwaatin's reliability is 20.81 times worse than the overall system average, and five times worse than the north.

So specifically, going on to page 18, Anwaatin indicates that 60 percent of the delivery point serving its community are outliers.  In terms of asset age and expected service life in terms of scheduled replacement date, all of these issues are problematic, and we've highlighted that that was the subject of focus of the auditor general.

Going on to the motion record at tab 7, we have the evidence of expert witness, McLaughlin from Hydro One, who had the ten-year averages directly put to him, contrary to my friend's submissions, in paragraphs 38 and 39 and he indicates and agrees with the ten-year averages are problematic.

Further, in volume 4 of the transcript, he confirms that over the period of time, which was 2006 to 2015, a ten-year period, they're getting worse.  This problem is not ameliorating with time.

So, Anwaatin submits that this reliability disparity is very material evidence for a Board that has particularly as its mandate the obligation to protect the interests of consumers with respect to reliability and the adequacy of electricity service.  In fact, I was quite comforted that Board Staff seemed to agree, specifically mentioning that the reliability issue is material, and warrants a solution.

And yet we see nowhere in the 120-page decision of the Board that the panel considered the disparity evidence, that the panel considered the SAIDI, the SAIFI, the delivery point reliability index, the CDPP outliers, the fact that 60 percent of the delivery points are problematic, the fact that the A4L line is problematic.  And it's this absence of any consideration that we would certainly argue does not discharge the Board's statutory obligation, both in setting just and reasonable rates pursuant to section 78(3), and in discharging its mandate to protect the interest of consumers in relation to reliability, specifically, and the adequacy of service.

In fact, it was quite difficult, as you can imagine, for the Anwaatin stakeholders and rights-holder to read in Board Staff's submissions that it was of the view -- that the Board Staff was of the view that despite these reliability disparity issues, they were of the view that the rates were just, the rates were reasonable.

It is their strong submission that the disproportionate impact is not just.  The disparity is not reasonable and that the Board, specifically this Panel, must act to remedy that.

So let's look at the second main submission, which is around the law and your function as a quasi-judicial tribunal.  And I'm referring very specifically of paragraphs 20 through 35 of our factum and then following that, 35 through 39.

In 20 through 35, we outline the various sections that the Board can and should rely upon to condition an order.  We rely on the fact that in section 19, you do have the exclusive jurisdiction to hear these matters and remedy these matters.

We rely on your express mandate, and we rely on the very significant powers that the Board has, that were highlighted by my friend Ms. Lea to do things of its own motion, to actually address the issues and conditions in relation to section 20.1, section 20.1 and its various broader statutory mandates.

In paragraphs 36 through 40, we highlight quite specifically the issues surrounding procedures of the original panel in this proceeding.

It is our view that the jurisprudence strongly supports that the Board's failure to address -- failure to provide one word of mention of the Anwaatin reliability disparity and reliability impact evidence constitutes a clear breach of procedural fairness constituting an error of law.

The Board Staff has conceded that this Board has a duty to give reasons, and looking at tab 3 of our motion record, the book of authorities, in the Supreme Court's decision in the U.S. v. Lake, it clearly indicates that those reasons must be clear.  It must show that the decision-maker considered a party's submissions, and it must provide some basis for understanding why the submissions were rejected.  It must be clear that the decision-maker considered the relevant facts and reached a defensible conclusion on those facts.

In Anwaatin's submission, this decision does not meet that test.  It fails to show that the Board considered the Anwaatin evidence.  It provides no evidence for understanding what the Board did and, despite the fact that the Board ruled that the Anwaatin evidence was relevant in Procedural Order 4, there is no conclusion or discussion whatsoever on it.

In tab 4 of our book of authorities, the Supreme Court of Canada also addressed the duty to give reasons in the Newfoundland and Labrador Nurses' Union case.  Specifically at paragraphs 9, 11, and 13 and 14 of that case, the Supreme Court ruled that the reasons must allow a reviewing court to satisfy itself that the tribunal grappled with the issue, must allow for the reviewing court to understand why the decision was made, and must allow the reviewing court to determine whether the decision was within the range of acceptable outcomes.

Yes, they indicated that you do not need to address every detail or every constituent element, but the decision-maker must be alive to the question at issue.

It is our submission that there is no evidence in the decision whatsoever to indicate that this Panel -- that panel, the reviewing panel, was alive to the issue, that it grappled with the issue, that there was an understanding of why any decision was made, if a decision was made, and whether any such decision was acceptable.

Moreover, I think quite tellingly, the Supreme Court in the Newfoundland and Labrador Nurses' Union at paragraph 22 indicates if there are no reasons why a decision was made, there is nothing in the decision that shows that the tribunal was alive to the issue.  When the duty to give reasons exists and there are no reasons whatsoever, there is nothing to review, and you cannot pass the test as to whether or not procedural fairness has been met.

This was again supported by the Ontario Court of Appeal in Clifford, and very specifically, in Clifford the board again supported the fact where there are no reasons you cannot discharge your duty, procedural-fairness duty to provide reasons.

Anwaatin respectfully submits that this decision falls very squarely within the law set out by the Supreme Court of Canada, supported by the Ontario Court of Appeal, and again further supported by the Newfoundland and Labrador Court of Appeal in Burke, stating that a decision that is unresponsive to issues raised and submissions ignored does not meet the Dunsmuir test.

If the tribunal is of the view that those submissions are frivolous, vexatious, irrelevant, or unpersuasive, the tribunal is required to say so.  It is required to address that in its submissions.

The Board clearly indicated in Procedural Order No. 4 that these issues were relevant, so relevant that it countenanced evidence to be prepared on the issues of First Nations reliability disparity and associated impact in those communities.  There is no question as to relevance.

If the Board found the body of evidence regarding the reliability disparity to be frivolous, vexatious, or unpersuasive, it had a duty to say so.  It did not.  We therefore submit that it failed to meet its duty of procedural fairness owed to the Anwaatin communities.

Last, but certainly not least, we've heard much in the submissions of parties on the various alternate remedies that might be provided.  We've heard that in the normal course of action this can be addressed in a different proceeding.  It can be addressed in the existing Hydro One distribution proceeding.  With respect, this is a transmission asset issue; it cannot.

We've heard that in the normal course of action this can be addressed in the next transmission rate hearing, if the issue gets on the issues list, if the evidence is dissimilar, if the data exists.

With respect, this Board and the prior Panel squarely had the issues in front of them regarding reliability disparity and reliability impact.  There were no ifs in that case.  We respectfully ask this Board to decide and vary and substitute its decision for that of the Panel below it, and in doing so address just how terrible Hydro One's reliability in First Nations communities is, to set a clear expectation for Hydro One that you, as the entity with sole and exclusive jurisdiction expect it to do better, expect it to remedy the situation that is so disparate and so unequal across the province.

You have the power to do so, to both condition orders and to make your own conditions and orders pursuant to section 21(1).  We are asking you to exercise that jurisdiction.

We do not want to be caught, and Anwaatin would have a gross injustice served upon it if it were forced to continually shop for the appropriate jurisdiction, for the appropriate proceeding, for the appropriate hearing to get the same issue which is burning and glaring addressed.

The evidence does matter.  The evidence is stark in this case.  The law also matters.  The law is clear in this case, and delay matters.  The evidence put forward to this Board by the Hydro One reliability experts clearly indicates that this has been an issue since 2005 and that issue is getting worse.

We therefore ask this Board to exercise its jurisdiction and remedy the situation before it by setting out a clear expectation of Hydro One that the reliability disparity issue in the Anwaatin and other First Nations communities will and must be addressed, and that it acknowledges the disproportionate impact of that reliability issue on First Nations communities and their traditional ways of life.

Last, but certainly not least, we would like to address the issue of costs in and around this proceeding.

Anwaatin is probably of the most vulnerable communities that this Board is in charge -- this Board is mandated to ensure has appropriate reliability and adequacy of electricity service.  It participated very efficiently and responsibly in the proceeding.  It adduced evidence which we understand to be the worst reliability disparity evidence that has ever come before this Board in a transmission rate case.  And nothing was done in the decision.  not even a mere mention.

It was nonetheless and therefore forced to address this issue by way of motion to review and vary.  It did not have the luxury of a court appeal, because the record did not support sufficient grounds to determine whether or not a decision had been made, whether or not due consideration had been given.

So we are asking the Board to award Anwaatin its costs associated with this motion.

All of this is respectfully submitted to you with a sense of urgency, and with a reminder of the very important role you play, not just in administering the associated issues around oversight of electricity in the province, but in the tone that you will set in relation to First Nations communities and their ability to achieve redress through this Board.

Those are our submissions.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.  Thank you very much.  The Board will provide its decision in due course, hopefully shorter due rather than longer due.

So thank you to all the counsel for your helpful submissions and we will get something out to you soon.
--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 1:38 p.m.
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